

Columbus State University CSU ePress

Theses and Dissertations

Student Publications

5-2016

Completing the Puzzle: Exploring Possible Antecedents to Rape Myth Acceptance

Skye A. Geeslin

Follow this and additional works at: https://csuepress.columbusstate.edu/theses_dissertations

Part of the Psychology Commons

Recommended Citation

Geeslin, Skye A., "Completing the Puzzle: Exploring Possible Antecedents to Rape Myth Acceptance" (2016). *Theses and Dissertations*. 234. https://csuepress.columbusstate.edu/theses_dissertations/234

This Thesis is brought to you for free and open access by the Student Publications at CSU ePress. It has been accepted for inclusion in Theses and Dissertations by an authorized administrator of CSU ePress.



COMPLETING THE PUZZLE: EXPLORING POSSIBLE ANTECEDENTS TO RAPE MYTH ACCEPTANCE

Skye A. Geeslin

COLUMBUS STATE UNIVERSITY

COMPLETING THE PUZZLE: EXPLORING POSSIBLE ANTECEDENTS TO RAPE MYTH

ACCEPTANCE

1

A THESIS SUBMITTED TO HONORS COLLEGE IN PARTIAL FULFILLMENT OF THE REQUIREMENTS FOR THE HONORS IN THE DEGREE OF

BACHELOR OF SCIENCE DEPARTMENT OF PSYCHOLOGY COLLEGE OF LETTERS AND SCIENCES

BY

SKYE A. GEESLIN COLUMBUS, GEORGIA

Copyright © 2016 Skye A. Geeslin

All Rights Reserved.

COMPLETING THE PUZZLE: EXPLORING POSSIBLE ANTECEDENTS TO RAPE MYTH

ACCEPTANCE

By

SKYE A. GEESLIN

A Thesis Submitted to the

HONORS COLLEGE

In Partial Fulfillment of the Requirements for Honors in the Degree of

BACHELOR OF SCIENCE PSYCHOLOGY COLLEGE OF LETTERS & SCIENCES

(QAA Thesis Advisor Date Dr. Diana F Committee Member Date Dr. Katherine White

Committee Member

Katharine Cannella

Dr. Cindy Ticknor

Honors College Dean

Date

5/31/16

Date

Abstract

Rape myths are commonly accepted, but usually false, attitudes and beliefs about the act of rape, the perpetrators, and most often the victims (Aronowitz, Lambert, & Davidoff, 2012). Studies have shown that the endorsement of rape myth attitudes influences not only the likelihood of a sexual assault occurring, but also whether or not the incident is reported, and how the victims view themselves and their experiences afterwards (Burnett et al., 2009). The present study surveyed college students to assess their levels of social competence, semantic knowledge of sex, bystander attitudes, and rape myth acceptance (RMA). The purpose of this study was to explore various factors that could be used to predict RMA levels. It was hypothesized that bystander attitudes, social competence, and sexual knowledge would all be negatively correlated with RMA. Participants were asked to complete four scales of measurement to assess the levels of RMA, bystander attitudes, social competence, and sexual knowledge of participants, as well as a demographics survey. Results indicated that RMA was negatively correlated with both bystander attitudes and sexual health knowledge, and both were significant predictors of RMA. Though no relation was detected between RMA and social competence, future research should further explore the possibility of mediation due to the findings that social competence significantly predicted bystander attitudes and, as mentioned above, bystander attitudes significantly predicted RMA. The findings indicated that awareness programs could be more successful in lowering RMA by introducing elements designed to increase a person's bystander attitudes and knowledge about sex.

Keywords: rape myth acceptance, bystander attitudes, sex education, sexual health knowledge, social competence, college students

TABLE OF CONTENTS

LIST OF TABLESv
INTRODUCTION1
Sexual Knowledge2
Social Competence
Bystander Attitudes4
Social Skills, Bystander Attitudes, and RMA5
METHODS
Participants6
Procedure6
Measures7
Participant Demographics10
RESULTS11
Primary Hypothesis11
Secondary Hypothesis11
Exploratory Analyses13
DISCUSSION15
Limitations18
Future Research19
Implications20
Conclusion21
REFERENCES

LIST OF TABLES

Table 1.	Means and Standard Deviations, by Gender, for all Project Scales	14
Table 2.	Pearson's r correlations Between Survey Measures	15

Completing the Puzzle: Exploring Possible Antecedents to Rape Myth Acceptance One in four college women will become the victim of an attempt or completed sexual assault during her time in college, and her experience will most likely not be reported to the university or the police. Statistics have shown that the group most at risk for sexual assault are females ages 18-24. This age group, as most will recognize, is the average age of most American college students today. In 2013, the Campus Save act was signed into law requiring all universities receiving federal funding to provide primary sexual assault prevention and awareness programs for all students and employees ("Understanding the Campus", n.d.). Even with the active prevention efforts by universities, however the sexual assault epidemic continues to plague college campuses across the U.S. (Sinozich & Langton, 2014). The leading explanation is that college campuses foster a rape culture through the endorsement of rape myths, which have been shown to increase the risk of sexual assault (Aronowitz, Lambert, & Davidoff, 2012; McMahon, 2010).

Rape myths can be thought of as cultural beliefs that serve to deny or minimize the occurrence of a sexual assault, or to support the view that the victim is to blame for being assaulted (Brownmiller, 1975). Brownmiller (1975) described rape myth acceptance as, "attitudes and beliefs that are generally false but are widely and persistently held, and that serve to deny and justify male sexual aggression against women". Studies have also shown that the endorsement of rape culture attitudes influences not only the likelihood of a sexual assault occurring, but also whether or not the incident is reported, and how the victims view themselves and their experiences afterwards (Burnett et al., 2009). Even though all public universities are required to have active prevention efforts on their campuses, the prevalence of sexual assault on college campus remains a substantial issue (Baynard, Moynihan, & Plante, 2007; Sinozich &

Langton, 2014; "Understanding the Campus", n.d.). An analysis of the current literature on rape culture and rape myth acceptance reveals three factors possibly serving as antecedents to rape myth acceptance: bystander attitudes, sexual health knowledge, and social competence (Aronowitz et al., 2012; Banyard et al., 2007; Emmers-Sommer et al., 2004; Mallet & Herbé, 2011). The present study was conducted to examine these variables and determine their influence on the acceptance of rape myths by college students.

Sexual Knowledge

Another factor that may account for some of the variability in rape myth acceptance is the level of semantic knowledge a person has about human reproduction and sexual health in general. Aronowitz and colleagues (2012) studied possible antecedents to one's likelihood of accepting rape myths and found that, for college students, lower scores on a sexual knowledge exam were indicative of having higher rape myth acceptance scores. Prior research has also suggested the existence of a deficit in the sexual education of American adolescents (Carrera, Williams, Philliber, & West, 2000), indicating a possible explanation for the continued endorsement of rape myth beliefs despite active awareness efforts (Aronowitz et al., 2012; Sinozich & Langton, 2014). Carrera and colleagues (2000) gave a sex knowledge exam to American adolescents across the country. The results were shocking, with an average score of 40% correct among participants. Of the participants, 73% thought that a person could never choose to be abstinent once they have had sexual intercourse, only 33% knew that "pulling out" was not a form of birth control, and only 37% knew that there were other activities that a person could use to satisfy their sexual needs besides intercourse (Carrera et al., 2000). These findings indicate that there may be a deficit in the sexual knowledge of adolescents, which could be

influencing the types of beliefs they endorse as adolescents and later in adulthood (Aronowitz et al., 2012; Mallet & Herbé, 2011).

Mallet and Herbé (2011) assessed the rape-supportive beliefs held by adolescents (age 12-17), specifically focusing on beliefs regarding situations when it is acceptable for an adolescent boy to force sex on an adolescent girl. They also assessed students' sexual knowledge, and found that lower sexual knowledge significantly predicted higher rape-supportive beliefs. The study by Mallet and Herbé (2011) is limited in that the rape-supportive beliefs they assessed were focused on the explicit action of a boy forcing sex on a girl, and the sample consisted of solely middle and high school aged adolescents. The present study aims to expand upon prior research by assessing whether sexual knowledge is also a predictor of rape myth acceptance, which addresses subtler rape myths, and whether this relation generalizes to adult individuals (McMahon & Farmer, 2011; Payne, Lonsway, & Fitzgerald, 1999). It was hypothesized that students with lower sexual health knowledge would be more likely to have higher RMA levels, and student sexual health knowledge would significantly predict their endorsement of rape myths (Aronowitz et al., 2012).

Social Competence

Social competence, more commonly known as social skills, has long been recognized as a crucial factor for effective interpersonal interactions. The importance of social competence has been noted in developing and maintaining of all types of relationships, ranging from elementary peer group popularity to marital satisfaction (Burhmester, Furman, Wittenburg, & Reis, 1988). It stands to reason that if the presence of social skills is important for successful interactions, then deficiencies may lead to anti-social behaviors and interactions. Research on sexual assault offenders has supported this notion. A meta-analysis of the relation between sexual offenders and social skills found a consensus between all studies wherein social skill deficiencies were associated with a higher likelihood of committing an act of sexual assault or aggression (Emmers-Sommer et al., 2004). Although it is believed that social skills are an influencing factor in the likelihood of committing acts of sexual assault (Emmers-Sommer et al., 2004), little to no prior research has been done on the role social skills play in a person's attitudes towards sexual assault and aggression. The present research aims to determine the association between social skills and rape myth acceptance, and also assess the possibility that social skills may serve as a predictor of a person's likelihood of believing rape myths. It was believed that those with lower social competence would be more accepting of rape myths (Emmers-Sommer et al., 2004).

Bystander Attitudes

The Bystander effect is a known factor involved in the progression of rape culture on college campuses, but the extent of its influence has yet to be fully explained by research. The bystander effect is a phenomenon in which the greater number of people that are present, the less likely a nearby person (bystander) is to intervene to assist someone in need (Darley & Latané, 1968b). Many sexual assault prevention programs now include elements of bystander intervention training, in an effort to increase the likelihood that someone will step in if they view a situation where a sexual assault is at risk of occurring (Banyard et al., 2007; Foubert et al., 2010). Research had shown that most college sexual assaults occur in social settings or in the victim's own home, and in both settings it is highly likely that the victim will have a friend or roommate, present or nearby (Kleinsasser et al., 2015). It is theorized that programs designed to not only give students the tools to recognize risky situations, but also the confidence to intervene to protect a friend, could prove the most successful for increasing intervention rates and thus lowering the prevalence of sexual assault (Banyard et al., 2007; Foubert et al., 2010).

While increased intervention could help decrease the overall number of sexual assaults, it is still unclear the degree of impact bystander attitudes have on the underlying beliefs regarding sexual assault. McMahon (2010) discovered a negative relation between bystander attitudes and rape myth acceptance in her study of Midwestern college students, indicating that increased endorsement of bystander behaviors, higher willingness to intervene, was associated with lower rape myth acceptance. Other studies have assessed sexual assault awareness programs that include aspects designed to increase bystander efficacy and behaviors, and many reported lower RMA in participants who completed the programs (Banyard et al., 2007; Foubert, et al., 2010; Kleinsasser et al., 2015). Though the programs evaluate in prior research also included elements of sexual assault awareness, so the extent to which RMA was influenced by the increase in bystander attitudes specifically, as opposed to other aspects of the program, is unclear. The present study aimed to replicate the relational findings of previous studies, and determine if bystander attitudes successfully predicts RMA when assessed independently. It was believed that students with a greater willingness to engage in bystander behaviors would have lower acceptance of rape myths, and that higher bystander attitudes would be predictive of lower rape myth acceptance (Aronowitz et al., 2012; Banyard et al., 2007; McMahon, 2010).

Social Skills, Bystander Attitudes, and RMA

Research with adolescent bullying has implicated the importance of improving students' social competence in preventing students from becoming bullies and increasing the likelihood that they will intervene if they see another student being bullied (Smith & Low, 2013). Cyberbullying research has also shown that students with lower social skills and higher attitudes supporting passive bystanding (less willing to intervene) were less likely to intervene to stop bullying, and were more likely to engage in negative bystander behaviors (i.e. laughing,

forwarding online posts) (DeSmet et al., 2016). If a relation exists between social skills and attitudes supporting intervention at the adolescent level, then there is a possibility that social skills may also be associated with willingness to intervene as adults. Studies have consistently shown a strong positive correlation between bystander attitudes and bystander intervention in sexual assault situations, as well as a strong negative relation between bystander attitudes and rape myth acceptance (Banyard et al., 2007; Foubert et al., 2012; Kleinsasser et al., 2015; McMahon, 2010; McMahon et al., 2011). The present study aims to assess whether bystander attitudes mediates the relation between social skills and RMA. It was hypothesized that the relation between social skills and rape myth acceptance would be significantly mediated by bystander attitudes (DeSmet et al., 2016; Banyard et al., 2007; McMahon, 2010).

Method

Participants

Most participants were recruited by convenience sampling, through an online participation system (SONA), provided by the Psychology department of CSU. Other participants were recruited through the snowball method, on Facebook. Data was collected from 355 participants ranging from 18-70 years of age (M = 21.69, SD = 7.13). Data for 50 participants could not be analyzed due to a failure to complete all of the required surveys, providing a final sample of 305 (73 males, 231 females).

Procedure

The survey was designed and administered through SurveyMonkey.com. Participants recruited using the SONA system were emailed a link to the survey immediately after signing up for the study. All other participants accessed the survey through a link embedded in a Facebook post. Participants' data was not linked to their names or school identification numbers in any way, and no IP addresses or any other identifying information was saved. Upon opening the survey, participants were shown a standard informed consent form. Participants were given the choice to either consent or not consent, but if they chose not to consent, they were immediately redirected to the end of the survey for debriefing. If they chose to consent, then they were allowed to proceed with the survey questionnaires, (see measures below). Upon completion of the questionnaires, they were then debriefed using a standard debriefing form. Once they had finished reading the debriefing page, the study session was complete. Participants were allowed as much time as necessary to complete the study, but the average time spent was approximately 23 minutes. Data was stored securely on the Survey Monkey website, and then downloaded onto an SPSS file for analysis. As compensation for completing the study, CSU participants were awarded 2 points that could be used for extra credit through the SONA system. Non-CSU participants received no compensation.

Measures

This study used four scales of measurement to assess the levels of rape myth acceptance, bystander attitudes, interpersonal competence, and sexual knowledge of participants. Also, a demographics survey was included to gather more information on the participants.

Illinois Rape Myth Acceptance Scale (IRMA).

This 19-item scale was updated from the original 45-item IRMA scale (Payne et al., 1999), which was one of the most widely used scales for assessing a person's level of rape myth acceptance (McMahon & Farmer, 2011). Within the overall scale are four subscales targeting different types of excuses used to minimize or deny the occurrence of a sexual assault: *She lied*, *He didn't mean to, She asked for it,* and *Not really rape*. The scale consists of statements like, "Rape happens when a guy's sex drive gets out of control," and "When girls go to parties

wearing slutty clothes, they are asking for trouble." Participants indicated their level of agreement with each item using a 5-point Likert Scale ranging from 1 (strongly disagree) to 5 (strongly agree). Higher scores indicated a greater endorsement of rape myths. The previous study reported a Cronbach's Alpha level of α = .87 (McMahon & Farmer, 2011), and an alpha level of α = .89 was established in the present study. The scores of the present study ranged from 1.00 to 4.32 (M = 2.21, SD = .64), with the mean and standard deviation of each subscale as follows: *She lied* (M = 2.56, SD = .88) *He didn't mean to* (M= 2.31, SD = .76), *She asked for it* (M = 2.19, SD = .88), and *Not really rape* (M = 1.61, SD = .70). Scores indicated that the overall RMA levels of participants were low to moderate (McMahon & Farmer, 2011).

Bystander Attitudes Scale Revised (BAS-R)

This 16-item scale was intended to measure participants' willingness to engage in examples of bystander behavior that are presented (McMahon, Postmus, & Koenick, 2011). Examples include behaviors like, "Say something to my friend who is taking a drunk person back to his/her room at a party" and "Confront a friend who is hooking up with someone who was passed out," and participants indicated their willingness using a 5-point Likert Scale ranging from 1 (most unwilling) to 5 (most willing). Higher scores indicate a higher willingness to intervene in the given situation. The scale was scored using the original 16 items (α = .85), and again after four items were removed due to the items assessing more individualistic behaviors as opposed to bystander behaviors. A Cronbach's alpha level of α = .79 was established for the trimmed version of the scale. The 12-item revised scale had a scores ranging from 1.42 to 5.00 (M = 3.97, SD = .56), and the mean was found to be significantly lower than the mean of the original 16-item scale (M = 4.10, SD = .53), (t (304) = -4.04, p < .001).

Sexual Health Knowledge

This scale was designed to gauge participants' knowledge on reproductive physiology, contraception, and sexually transmitted infections. There were 38 items total, and participants were given 1 point for each correct answer, with possible points in each section as follows: 20 points for reproductive physiology, 12 points for contraception, and 6 points for sexually transmitted infections. This scale was developed for use with adolescents, and has a reported Cronbach's alpha of α = .89 (Carrera, Kaye, Philliber, & West, 2000). An alpha level of (α = .85), was established for the present study, indicating satisfactory reliability. Overall exam scores in the present study ranged from 13 to 38 (M = 31.70, SD = 4.16), averaging approximately 83% correct, with individual subscale means as follows: *reproductive physiology* (M = 15.67, SD = 2.76), *contraception* (M = 10.45, SD = 1.50), and *sexually transmitted infections* (M = 5.58, SD = .82). Scores indicated that participants had fairly high sexual health knowledge overall (Carrera et al., 2000).

Interpersonal Competence Questionnaire (ICQ)

This scale was designed to study a person's interpersonal competence through 5dimensions: initiating relationships, self-disclosure, asserting displeasure with others' actions, providing emotional support, and managing interpersonal conflicts. The scale consisted of 40 items, with 8 items per domain. Examples of scale items include, "Introducing yourself to someone you might like to get to know (or date)" and "Being a good and sensitive listener for a companion who is upset." Participants indicated their level of comfort and competence with completing the tasks described in each item using a 5-point Likert scale ranging from 1 (I'm poor at this; I'd feel so uncomfortable and unable to handle this situation, I'd avoid it if possible) to 5 (I'm extremely good at this; I'd feel very comfortable and could handle this situation very well). Higher scores indicated a greater level of social competence. The median Cronbach's alpha for the domain scales was reported as α = .83 (Buhrmester et al., 1988), and an alpha level of α = .93 was established for the present study. Present study scores ranged from 1.00 to 4.95 (M = 3.53, SD = .54), with the individual subscale means as follows: *emotional support* (M = 4.08, SD = .72), *negative assertion* (M = 3.62, SD = .79), *conflict management* (M =3.57, SD = .68), *initiation* (M = 3.22, SD = .82), and *disclosure* (M = 3.17, SD = .71).

Participant Demographics

A demographics survey collected data on 7 demographic variables: gender, age, native language, Hispanic affiliation, race, sexual orientation, and class ranking. It also included 3 questions about prior sex education and violence prevention education. Data was analyzed for 305 participants (73 males, 231 females), though all participants were not included in select demographic variable analyses due to the participants' selection of the "prefer not to answer" or "N/A" answer choice. Participants ranged in age from 18 to 70, and one sample t-tests determined that the sample mean for age (M = 21.69, SD = 7.13) was significantly lower than the overall campus mean of 25, which stands to reason given the high percentage of freshman students in the sample. Racial distribution data was analyzed for 291 participants, and the racial distributions were as follows: 55.2% White, 31.4% Blacks, 2% Asians, and 11.4% Multiracial, other, or prefer not to say. The sample racial distributions were found to be not representative of the overall population of CSU students ($X^2(5,291) = 26.92, p < .001$). Chi-Square goodness of fit tests on both gender and class rank distributions revealed that the sample was not representative of the overall population for either variable, with the sample containing a significantly higher percentage of female and freshman participants than are found in the population. A high rate of freshman participants was expected due to most introductory psychology courses at the

university offering extra credit for research participation. An alpha level of p < .05 was maintained for all statistical analyses.

Results

Primary Hypothesis

Pearson's *r* correlations were run to analyze the relationships between IRMA scores and the scores of the 12-item BAS-R, the social competency scale, and the sexual knowledge questionnaire. Consistent with the hypothesis, a significant, negative correlation was found between RMA and bystander attitudes (r(303) = -.42, p < .001). Also, consistent with the hypothesis was the finding of a significant negative correlation between RMA and sexual health knowledge (r(303) = -.35, p < .001). Contrary to the hypothesis, no significant relation was detected between RMA and social competence.

Simple linear regressions were used to test whether bystander attitudes and sexual health knowledge significantly predicted RMA. Results indicated that bystander attitudes significantly predicted RMA ($\beta = -.42$, t (303) = -7.97, p < .001), and accounted for 17% of the variance ($R^2 = .17$, F(1, 303) = 63.59, p < .001). Sex knowledge also significantly predicted RMA ($\beta = -.35$, t (303) = -6.55, p < .001), and accounted for 12% of the variance ($R^2 = .12$, F(1, 303) = 42.92, p < .001). Overall, the findings supported the hypotheses that bystander attitudes and sexual health knowledge would both be significantly related to and predict RMA. Although the hypothesized relation between social competence and RMA was not supported.

Secondary Hypothesis

The causal steps approach outlined by Barron and Kenny (1986) is the most commonly used approach for mediation testing in the field of Social Psychology (Rucker, Preacher, Tormala, & Petty, 2011). This approach requires a significant relation between the independent variable (X) and a dependent variable (Y) in order to proceed with testing for mediation (Barron & Kenny, 1986). However, recent literature has criticized this method for its low power to detect a mediation (Fritz & MacKinnon, 2007; MacKinnon, Lockwood, Hoffman, West, & Sheets, 2002), and has argued that a significant $X \rightarrow Y$ relation is not necessary for the examination of a theory proposing mediation (Hayes, 2009; MacKinnon & Fairchild, 2009; Rucker et al., 2011). Therefore, even though a significant relation between social competence and RMA was not detected, the mediational analysis proceeded with a product of coefficients approach.

Simple linear regression analysis revealed higher social competence significantly predicted by higher bystander attitudes ($\beta = .33$, t(303) = 6.06, p < .001), accounting for 11% of the variance (R2 = .11, F(1, 303) = 36.76, p < .001). Multiple regression revealed that bystander attitudes still significantly predicted RMA ($\beta = -.44$, t(303) = -8.06, p < .001) when controlling for social competence, however social competence did not significantly predict RMA. Results of the Sobel test were significant (z' = -4.83, p < .001), suggesting the possibility of an indirect effect despite the lack of significance in the social competence to RMA pathway (Hayes, 2009; Rucker et al., 2011).

Power was determined based off the findings of Fritz & MacKinnon (2007), using the regression coefficients from the α and β pathways outlined in the Barron and Kenny (1986) causal steps approach. Given the study's α (.33) and β (-.44) regression coefficients, a required sample size of 144 was needed for .8 power to detect mediation using the Sobel test, indicating the present study's sample size (n = 305) was sufficient for .8 power to detect a mediation effect (Fritz & MacKinnon, 2007).

Overall the findings supported the hypothesis that social competence, through its relation with bystander attitudes, may influence college students' endorsement of rape myth beliefs. The

lack of a direct effect of social competence on rape myth acceptance could be explained by another unidentified variable influencing RMA in the opposite direction, suppressing the detection of a direct effect (Mackinnon, Krull, & Lockwood, 2000).

Exploratory Analysis

Exploratory analyses were conducted to compare the IRMA scores of the present study with scores collected in prior studies to determine if there were any significant differences, which could indicate possible trends in overall RMA levels. A one sample *t*-test determined the overall IRMA score mean of the present study (M = 2.21, SD = .64) to be significantly higher than the mean score from a study done on the same campus 1-year prior (t(304) = 9.83, p < .001) (Geeslin, 2015). One-sample *t*-tests were also conducted to assess whether the present study's scores significantly differed from IRMA scores collected at other universities in the U.S. McMahon (2010) reported a mean IRMA score of 2.51 (SD = .56), which was found to be significantly higher than the IRMA mean of the present study (t(304) = -8.27, p < .01), indicating a possible trend toward lower RMA. The present study's IRMA mean was also found to be significantly lower than the mean of 2.30 (SD = .63) reported by Chapleau and Oswald (2010) (t (304) = -2.51, p < .001). It is possible that the significant difference found between the present study and prior research are in part due to the time difference between the studies, due to possibility that RMA levels are getting lower over time. The findings of the present study suggest that there may be a trend towards lower endorsement of rape myths by college students, though RMA levels would need to be assessed in the regions where it was analyzed by prior studies in order to confirm this explanation.

Analysis of the IRMA subscales revealed that the mean for the subscale *She lied* was significantly higher than all other subscales and the total IRMA score mean (p < .001), indicating

that many participants endorsed myths associated with women lying about the occurrence of a sexual assault over all others. The mean score for females was also found to be significantly lower than the mean score for males (t (302) = -4.83, p < .001). Table 1 shows the means and standard deviations of all project scales, separated by gender.

Table 1.

Means and Standard Deviations, by Gender, for all Project Scales. Note: Gender means found to be significantly higher than that of the opposite gender, for

Scales	М	SD	Range
IRMA			
Male	2.51**	.64	1.16-4.32
Female	2.11	.61	1.00-3.95
ICQ			
Male	3.54	.58	2.30-4.80
Female	3.53	.53	1.00-4.95
BAS-R			
Male	3.85	.62	2.67-5.00
Female	4.01*	.54	1.42-5.00
Sexual Knowledge			
Male	29.37	4.77	14.00-37.00
Female	32.43**	3.68	13.00-38.00

Exploratory analysis of other scale correlations revealed a significant positive correlation between bystander attitudes and sexual health knowledge (r (303) = .30, p <.001), (see table 2 for all scale correlations). Results of a simple linear regression showed higher sex knowledge also significantly predicted higher bystander attitudes (β = .30, t(303) = 5.40, p < .001), though only accounting for 9% of the variance (R^2 = .09, F(1, 303) = 29.20, p < .001). Pearson's rcorrelations were run to assess if prior sex education or participation in a sexual assault awareness program was related to RMA, though no significant relations were detected.

Scales	1	2	3
1. IRMA			S. Star
2. BAS-R	42**		
3. ICQ	.29	.33**	
4. Sexual Health Knowledge	35**	.30**	.09

Table 2. Pearson's r correlations Between Survey Measures. Note: Significance is denoted as $p < .05^*$ and $p < .001^{**}$

Discussion

There is much debate over what should be included in sexual assault awareness programs, and this study was dedicated to exploring factors that could predict RMA and increase the success of awareness programs if addressed. The present study examined college students' rape myth acceptance levels to determine if they are related to as well as predicted by other participant variables. Bystander attitudes, sexual knowledge, and social competence were all assessed and analyzed as possible antecedent to RMA. Consistent with prior research, bystander attitudes were found to be negatively related to RMA (McMahon, 2010; McMahon et al., 2011). As expected, the results also indicated that higher bystander attitudes significantly predicted lower RMA. While prior studies have found that programs designed to decrease sexual assault through bystander education also show a decrease in RMA, it was unclear the extent of the influence bystander attitudes alone had on RMA (Banyard et al., 2007; Foubert et al., 2010). The findings of the present study indicated that bystander attitudes alone significantly predict RMA, which suggests that awareness programs could could increase their effectiveness by introducing elements designed to increase a person's bystander attitudes.

The results also showed that the more sexual knowledge a student had, the less likely the student would be to accept rape myths, which is consistent with what prior studies have found (Aronowitz et al., 2012; Mallet & Herbé, 2011). Prior research that reported a predictive relation

between rape culture beliefs and sexual health knowledge had focused primarily on young adolescents and attitudes towards more explicit instances of sexual assault (i.e. is it rape when a male teenager uses physical force to coerce a female classmate into having sex?) as opposed to RMA which covers less explicit sexual assault instances (i.e. Believing it is rape if a women says "stop," after intercourse has already begun, and the man does not stop because she initially said "yes?") (Mallet & Herbé, 2011). The present study was able to demonstrate the presence of the relation between sexual knowledge and rape myth acceptance in adult individuals, filling an important gap in the literature. Although further experimental research is still needed, this suggests that sexual knowledge may be an important component leading to the development of false beliefs about sex and sexual assault.

Prior research conducted with sexual assault perpetrators found that the social competence of perpetrators was significantly lower than that of non-perpetrators (Emmers-Sommer et al., 2004). Little research has directly assessed the relation between social competence and attitudes towards sexual assault. The present study assessed this relation, and contrary to the hypothesis, a significant relation was not detected between RMA and social skills. However, these findings do not necessarily mean that social skills have no relation to RMA.

Research with adolescent bullying has shown higher social competence to be associated with higher willingness to intervene in bullying situations (DeSmet et al., 2016; Smith & Low, 2013). Knowing that higher willingness to intervene in sexual assault situation is strongly associated with lower rape myth acceptance (Banyard et al., 2007; Foubert et al., 2012; McMahon, 2010; McMahon et al., 2011), the present study aimed to assess whether social competence 1) was related to the willingness to intervene in sexual assault related situations and 2) was indirectly related to RMA through bystander attitude. Results indicated that social skills significantly predicted bystander attitudes, and the presence of a significant mediation indicated the possibility of RMA being indirectly related to social competence. A significant mediation was detected despite the lack of a significant relation between social skills and RMA, which is consistent with prior research that argues the requirement of a significance X to Y relation lowers the power to detect mediation and greatly increases the likelihood of committing a Type II error (Fritz & MacKinnon, 2007; Hayes, 2009; MacKinnon et al., 2002; MacKinnon & Fairchild, 2009; Rucker et al., 2011). This study was the first to examine social skills in regard to sexual assault prevention, and result indicated that social competence could be an antecedent to college students' development of beliefs supporting rape culture. However, further research using experimental design must be done to establish causation and fully understand how this influences sexual assault prevention and awareness.

Exploratory analyses revealed that the IRMA scores found in the present study were significantly lower than those found in similar studies conducted at other universities (Chapleau & Oswald, 2010; McMahon, 2010), and unexpectedly were significantly higher than scores collected at the same university one-year prior (Geeslin, 2015). This difference may be due to the larger sample size in the present study, and the use of an updated RMA measure (Geeslin, 2015; McMahon & Farmer, 2011). Also consistent with prior research, males were found to have significantly higher IRMA scores than females (Aronowitz et al., 2012; McMahon, 2010). These results indicate that even though universities are actively working to implement programs to educate students on sexual assault and prevention, many still endorse false beliefs about how sexual assault occurs and who is to blame ("Understanding the Campus, n.d.).

Limitations

This study had a few limitations that should be considered when interpreting the results. First, the sample was made up largely of women, and prior research has shown that females have significantly lower RMA than their male counterparts (Aronowitz et al., 2012; McMahon, 2010) as was also observed in the present study. Thus the appearance of a trend towards lower RMA in college students could simply be a result of the large proportion of women participants skewing the data towards lower scores (Chapleau & Oswald, 2010; McMahon, 2010). Second, this study did not look at overall intelligence in combination with sex knowledge to assess whether higher overall intelligence is influencing RMA levels as opposed to specifically sexual knowledge (Floyd, Reynolds, & Kranzler, 2014). Prior research has controlled for GPA in assessments of sex knowledge and RMA (Mallet & Herbé, 2011), though IQ tests have been shown to be better indicators of overall intelligence (Floyd, Reynolds, & Kranzler, 2014). Future studies should assess whether sexual knowledge continues to significantly predict RMA when overall intelligence is controlled for.

Additionally, there is also the concern of social desirability bias when conducting selfreport survey research. Assessments related to sexual violence and bystander intervention are susceptible to respondents answering in a way that is perceived as being more socially acceptable or "politically correct," as opposed to choosing answers that reflect their true beliefs (Tracey, 2016). Future research should strive to use modern scales that word items in a way that counteracts social desirability bias (Fisher, 1993).

Lastly, this study had a moderate sample size, and was conducted with participants in the Southern region of the U.S. The extent to which the results can be generalized to students from

various areas of the U.S. and other countries is limited. Replication of this study in other areas is warranted in order to assess whether or not the results are consistent across regions.

Future Research

As mentioned earlier, the finding that social skills predicted bystander attitudes and that bystander attitudes predicted RMA indicates that social skills could be influencing RMA through a mediation with bystander attitudes. Even though a significant mediation was detected in the present study, further research should continue to explore the relation using updated scale measures to counteract possible social desirability or suppressor variables which could be hindering the detection of a significant relation between social skills and RMA (Fisher, 2013; MacKinnon et al., 2000), as well as experimental designs to establish a causal relation between variables.

Future research should also assess the possibility of RMA moderating the relation between social skills and bystander attitudes. It stands to reason that the more confident and skilled a person is in everyday social situations, the more confidence they will have to intervene in a situation that they feel is problematic (Erozkan, 2013), affecting the third stage of the helping decision process where a person decides to either intervene or remain a bystander (Darley & Latané, 1968a). It is in the second stage of the bystander intervention process where a situation is interpreted an emergency or requiring intervention (Darley & Latané, 1968b). Knowing that the lower a person's RMA level, the more likely they are to recognize a situation where sexual assault is at risk of occurring, it is possible that RMA could influence whether or not a situation is viewed as requiring intervention (Aronowitz et al., 2012; McMahon, 2010). This would impact the relation between bystander attitudes and social competence, explaining why those with high social competence, who are more likely to be willing to intervene, would

choose not to act in a sexual assault situation (Darley & Latané, 1968b; DeSmet et al., 2016; Smith & Low, 2013).

Exploratory analysis revealed that sex knowledge was significantly related to bystander attitudes, as well as RMA. Prior research has also reported a negative relation between sex knowledge and an acceptance of social norms regarding sexual behavior, as well as acceptance of false beliefs regarding sexual assault (Aronowitz et al., 2012; Mallet & Herbé, 2011). Indicating that the lower a student's sexual knowledge, the more likely they are to conform to risky sexual behavior norms and endorse beliefs supportive of sexual assault (Aronowitz et al., 2012). This highlights an area requiring further exploration by the literature. Future research should further analyze the relation between sex knowledge, bystander attitudes, and RMA to broaden the current understanding of how these factors may be interacting to impact sexual assault awareness and prevention efforts.

Implications

Determining that sexual health knowledge is a significant predictor of RMA adds to the current literature on rape myth acceptance by generalizing findings from adolescent research to an adult population and into the field of sexual assault awareness (Mallet and Herbé, 2011). It also demonstrates the predictive relation between bystander attitudes and RMA when assessed outside of a sexual assault awareness program (Banyard et al., 2007; Foubert et al., 2012). Although future experimental research is still needed to establish causation, the findings suggest that awareness programs could be more successful in lowering RMA by introducing elements designed to increase a person's bystander attitudes and knowledge about sex.

The findings also suggest the possibility of bystander attitudes and sexual health knowledge serving as protective factors against the development of false beliefs regarding sexual

assault. The focus on education of sexual assault specifically by prevention and awareness programs has not been as successful as many had hoped in creating lasting changes in bystander intervention and rape myth beliefs (Banyard et al., 2007; Foubert et al., 2012). The findings of this study suggest that there are factors, which if addressed before the development of misguided cultural beliefs, could serve to protect from developing a high rape myth acceptance level (Banyard et al., 2007; McMahon, 2010; Mallet & Herbé, 2011).

Conclusion

This exploratory study provided insight into how bystander attitudes, sexual health knowledge, and social competence related to college students' formation of false beliefs regarding sexual assault. Bystander attitudes and sexual knowledge were shown to be the most salient predictors of RMA, with high levels of both relating to low levels of RMA. Bystander attitudes were also shown to significantly mediate the relation between RMA and social competence, highlighting the need for further research into how social skills may influence sexual assault prevention efforts (Aronowitz et al., 2012; DeSmet et al., 2016). Findings also suggest that sexual assault awareness programs may be able to increase their effectiveness by addressing the sexual knowledge and bystander attitudes of their participants (Banyard et al., 2007; McMahon, 2010; Mallet & Herbé, 2011), though there is still the need for further experimental research with rape myth acceptance in order to establish causal relations between variables and to better understand how the factors are involved in a person's development and endorsement of false sexual assault beliefs.

References

- Aronowitz, T. S. (2012). The role of rape myth acceptance in the social norms regarding sexual behavior among college students. *Journal of Community Health Nursing*, 29(3), 173-182. doi:10.1080/07370016.2012.697852
- Banyard, V. L., Moynihan, M. M., & Plante, E. G. (2007). Sexual violence prevention through education: An experimental evaluation. *Journal of Community Psychology*, 35(4), 463-481. doi:10.1002/jcop.20159

Brownmiller, S. (1975). Against our will: Men, women and rape. New York: Bantam Books.

- Buhrmester, D., Furman, W., Wittenberg, M. T., & Reis, H. T. (1988). Five domains of interpersonal competence in peer relationships. *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology*, 55(6), 991-1008. doi:10.1037/0022-3514.55.6.991
- Burnett, A., Mattern, J. L., Herakova, L. L., Kahl, D. H., Tobola, C., & Bornsen, S. E. (2009).
 Communicating/muting date rape: A co-cultural theoretical analysis of
 communication factors related to rape culture on a college campus. *Journal of Applied Communication Research*. 37(4), 465-485. doi:10.1080/00909880903233150
- Carrera, M., Kaye, J. W., & Philliber, S. (2000). Knowledge about reproduction contraception, and sexually transmitted infections among young adolescents in American cities. *Social Policy*, 30(3), 41-50. Retrieved from http://eds.b.ebscohost.com/eds/pdfviewer/pdfviewer ?sid=ac0062e3-ea7b-42d5-a192-f79bffcea6f9%40sessionmgr103&vid=18&hid=111
- Chapleau, K., & Oswald, D. (2010). Power, sex, and rape myth acceptance: Testing two models of rape proclivity. *Journal of Sex Research*, 47(1), 66–78. doi:10.1080/002244909029543

Cohen, J. (1992). Statistical power analysis. Current Directions in Psychological Science

(Wiley-Blackwell), 1(3), 98-101. doi:10.1111/1467-8721.ep10768783

- Darley, J. M., & Latané, B. (1968a). Bystander intervention in emergencies: Diffusion of responsibility. *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology*, 8(4), 377-383.
 doi:10.1037/h0025589
- Darley, J.M., & Latané, B. (1968b). Group inhibition of bystander intervention in emergencies. Journal of Personality and Social Psychology, 10(3), 215-221. doi:10.1037/h0026570
- DeSmet, A., Bastiaensens, S., Van Cleemput, K., Poels, K., Vandebosch, H., Cardon, G., & De Bourdeaudhuij, I. (2016). Full length article: Deciding whether to look after them, to like it, or leave it: A multidimensional analysis of predictors of positive and negative bystander behavior in cyberbullying among adolescents. *Computers in Human Behavior*, *57*, 398-415. doi:10.1016/j.chb.2015.12.051
- Emmers-Sommer, T. M., Allen, M., Bourhis, J., Sahlstein, E., Laskowski, K., Falato, W. L., & ... Cashman, L. (2004). A meta-analysis of the relationship between social skills and sexual offenders. *Communication Reports*, 17(1), 1-10. doi:10.1080/08934210409389369
- Erozkan, A. (2013). The effect of communication skills and interpersonal problem solving skills on social self-efficacy. *Educational Sciences: Theory and Practice*, *13*(2), 739-745.
 Retrieved from http://eds.b.ebscohost.com/eds/pdfviewer/pdfviewer?sid=ac0062e3-ea7b-42d5-a192-f79bffcea6f9%40sessionmgr103&vid=22&hid=111
- Fisher, R. J. (1993). Social desirability bias and the validity of indirect questioning. Journal of Consumer Research, 20(2), 303-315. doi:10.1086/209351
- Foubert, J. D., Langhinrichsen-Rohling, J., Brasfield, H., & Hill, B. (2010). Effects of a rape awareness program on college women: Increasing bystander efficacy and willingness to intervene. *Journal of Community Psychology*, 38(7), 813-827. doi:10.1002/jcop.20397

- Fritz, M. S., & MacKinnon, D. P. (2007). Required sample size to detect the mediated effect. *Psychological Science (Wiley-Blackwell)*, 18(3), 233-239. doi:10.1111/j.1467-9280.2007.01882.x
- Geeslin, S. (2015) *The prevalence of rape myth acceptance among college students*. Unpublished manuscript, Department of Psychology, Columbus State University, Columbus, Georgia.
- Hayes, A. F. (2009). Beyond Baron and Kenny: Statistical mediation analysis in the new millennium. *Communication Monographs*, 76(4), 408-420.

doi:10.1080/03637750903310360

- Kleinsasser, A., Jouriles, E. N., McDonald, R., & Rosenfield, D. (2015). An online bystander intervention program for the prevention of sexual violence. *Psychology of Violence*, 5(3), 227-235. doi:10.1037/a0037393
- MacKinnon, D., Krull, J., & Lockwood, C. (2000). Equivalence of the mediation, confounding and suppression effect. *Prevention Science*, 1(4), 173-181.
 doi:10.1023/A:1026595011371
- MacKinnon, D. P., Lockwood, C. M., Hoffman, J. M., West, S. G., & Sheets, V. (2002). A comparison of methods to test mediation and other intervening variable effects. *Psychological Methods*, 7(1), 83-104. doi:10.1037/1082-989X.7.1.83
- MacKinnon, D. P., & Fairchild, A. J. (2009). Current directions in mediation analysis. *Current Directions in Psychological Science*, 18(1), 16-20. doi:10.1111/j.1467-8721.2009.01598.x
- Mallet, P., & Herbé, D. (2011). Does knowledge about sexuality prevent adolescents from developing rape-supportive beliefs?. *Journal of Sex Research*, 48(4), 372-380. doi:10.1080/00224491003794048

- McMahon, S. (2010). Rape myth beliefs and bystander attitudes among incoming college students. *Journal of American College Health*, 59(1), 3-11.
 doi:10.1080/07448481.2010.483715
- McMahon, S. & Farmer, G. L. (2011). An updated measure for assessing subtle rape myths. *Social Work Research*, *35*(2), 71-81. doi:10.1093/swr/35.2.71
- McMahon, S., Postmus, J. L., & Koenick, R. A. (2011). Conceptualizing the engaging bystander approach to sexual violence prevention on college campuses. *Journal of College Student Development*, 52(1), 115-130. doi:10.1353/csd.2011.0002
- Payne, D., Lonsway, K., & Fitzgerald, L. (1999). Rape myth acceptance: Exploration of its structure and its measurement using the Illinois rape myth acceptance scale. *Journal of Research in Personality.* 33(1), 27–68. doi:10.1006/jrpe.1990.2238
- Sinozich, S. & Langton, L. (2014). Rape and sexual assault victimization among college-age females, 1995–2013. Bureau of Justice Statistics. Retrieved March 15, 2015, from http://www.bjs.gov/index.cfm?ty=pbdetail&iid=5176.
- Smith, B. H., & Low, S. (2013). The role of social-emotional learning in bullying prevention efforts. *Theory into Practice*, *52*(4), 280-287. doi:10.1080/00405841.2013.829731
- Tracey, T. G. (2016). A note on socially desirable responding. *Journal of Counseling Psychology*, 63(2), 224-232. doi:10.1037/cou0000135

Understanding the Campus Save Act. (n.d.) Retrieved from

http://knowyourix.org/understanding-the-campus-save-act/



